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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
1:12-CR-028-DNH

A\’

TIMOTHY M. McGINN and
DAVID L. SMITH,
Defendants

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION,

Plaintiff,
v.
10 Civ. 457 GLS-DRH
MCcGINN, SMITH & CO., INC.,
MCcGINN, SMITH ADVISORS, LLC
MCcGINN, SMITH CAPITAL HOLDINGS CORP.,
FIRST ADVISORY INCOME NOTES, LLC,
FIRST EXCELSIOR INCOME NOTES, LLC,
FIRST INDEPENDENT INCOME NOTES, LLC,
THIRD ALBANY INCOME NOTES, LLC,
TIMOTHY M. McGINN, and
DAVID L. SMITH, GEOFFREY R. SMITH,
Individually and as Trustee of the David L. and
Lynn A. Smith Irrevocable Trust U/A 8/04/04,
LAUREN T. SMITH, and NANCY McGINN,

Defendants, and
LYNN A. SMITH and
NANCY McGINN,

Relief Defendants, and
GEOFFREY R. SMITH, Trustee of the
David L. and Lynn A. Smith Irrevocable
Trust U/A 8/04/04,

Intervenor
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NOTICE OF MOTION

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that, upon the accompanying Memorandum of Law and the

Declarations of Timothy M. McGinn and James C. Knox, Esq., and accompanying exhibits

submitted in support thereof, Defendant Timothy McGinn will move this Court before the

Honorable David R. Homer, at the United States Courthouse, 445 Broadway, Albany, New

York, at a date and time to be determined by the Court, for an Order modifying the Court’s July

22, 2010 Preliminary Order to permit the release of certain assets frozen thereby and described

herein for payment of Mr. McGinn’s attorney fees and costs in his parallel criminal case.

Dated: February 10, 2012
Albany, New York

E STEWART JONES, PLLC

\W C’._é\ff«\/

MES C. KNOX, ESQ.
ar Roll No. 517109 .

Attorneys for Defendant
Timothy M. McGinn

28 Second Street

Troy, NY 12180
Telephone: 518-274-5820
Facsimile: 518-274-5875
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MEMORANDUM OF LAW IN SUPPORT OF TIMOTHY M. McGINN’S MOTION TO
MODIFY THE JULY 22,2010 PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION ORDER TO PERMIT
THE USE OF CERTAIN ASSETS TO PAY ATTORNEY FEES.

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

On July 22, 2010, the Court imposed a Preliminary Injunction Order freezing all assets
controlled by Timothy McGinn. Deprived of those assets, Mr. McGinn finds himself unable to
continue to pay his legal expenses. Upon his indictment in a parallel criminal case on January
26, 2012, Mr. McGinn is faced with massive impending legal fees to mount a defense in the
parallel criminal case. In order to preserve his rights under the United States Constitution to the
counsel of his choice in the criminal case, it is imperative that the Preliminary Order by modified
to permit Mr. McGinn to use certain assets to pay for his criminal defense.

FACTS
For a statement of the relevant facts, please refer to the herewith submitted Declarations
of James C. Knox, Esq., and defendant Timothy M. McGinn.
ARGUMENT
In Order to Preserve Mr. McGinn’s Fifth and Sixth Amendment Rights, the Preliminary
Order Must Be Modified to Permit Mr. McGinn to Utilize Certain Frozen Assets to Pay for
His Criminal Defense.

From the outset, it is recognized that “[a] defendant is not entitled to foot his legal bill
with funds that are tainted by” illegal conduct. SEC v. Coates, No. 94 Civ. 53661(KWM) 1994
WL 455558, at *3 (S.D.N.Y. Aug. 23, 1994). However, “[a]lthough a court may impose an asset
freeze in a civil case, notwithstanding a companion criminal case, these circumstances dictate
that the court pay particular attention to the defendant’s Fifth and Sixth Amendment rights.” Id.

Here, Mr. McGinn finds himself under circumstances in which the full weight of the government

has been brought to bear upon him in a two-fold capacity. Mr. McGinn remains innocent until
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proven guilty, but he now finds not one but two armies of experienced government attorneys
arrayed against him, and he is currently subject to an Order that leaves him bereft of the ability to
pay to defend himself in the criminal case with the counsel of his choice. 1f this situation is
allowed to continue without modification, Mr. McGinn will be deprived of his Due Process
rights and his Sixth Amendment right to counsel of his choosing.

The cost of Mr. McGinn’s criminal defense through the conclusion of his anticipated trial
is expected to exceed $300,000. Mr. McGinn has demonstrated in his herewith submitted
Declaration that he is unable to pay the attorney fees and costs associated with what has been and
will undoubtedly continue to be an expensive and complicated defense. As such, he has satisfied
his threshold burden to show that without a release of the assets frozen in the Preliminary Order

he will be unable to be defended by the counsel of his choice. See S.E.C. v FTC Capital

Markets, Inc., No. 09 Civ. 4755(PGG), 2010 WL 2652405, at *9 (S.D.N.Y. June 30, 2010);

Cobalt Multifamily Investors, I LLC, No. 06 Civ. 2360(KMW)(MHD), 2007 U.S, Dist. LEXIS

25872, at *10-*12 (S.D.N.Y. April 2, 2007); see generally United States v. Monsanto (Monsanto

1V), 924 F.2d 1186 (2d Cir. 1991).

The assets which Mr. McGinn seeks to unfreeze were either purchased long before the
illegal conduct was alleged to have occurred or were purchased at the beginning of the alleged
misconduct with funds acquired long before. As such, Mr. McGinn has a property interest in
those assets with which the Govemment cannot interfere, even if the illegal conduct is ultimately

proven. See United States v. Stein, 435 F. Supp. 2d 330, 367 (S.D.N.Y. 2006), aff’d, 541 F.3d at

155-156; see also Monsanto IV, 924 F.2d at 1203. The illiquid assets listed in Schedule A of the

McGinn Declaration are not traceable to any fraud, and therefore, the continued imposition of the

Preliminary Order—enforced even against assets acquired as long ago as the 1990s—is
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unreasonable and continues without regard to the impact it has on Mr. McGinn’s private interest
in the protection and preservation of his own liberty. It is those interests that are in fact at stake
in the criminal prosecution, which implicates concerns not present at the time the Preliminary
Order was entered.

“Staging a defense against a complex criminal charge is not an easy, nor an inexpensive,
matter. It requires counsel skilled in marshaling complicated facts as well as learned in legal

principles.” United States v Moya Gomez, 860 F.2d 706, 726 (7th Cir. 1988). The Preliminary

Order is merely “temporary”——effective during the pendency of the case but freezing all of the
defendant’s assets— but “the freeze operates as a permanent deprivation. The defendant needs
an attorney now if the attorney is to do him any good.” Id. A view of the case which presumes
Mr. McGinn to be unentitled to use his personal possessions to pay for his defense utterly
deprives him of his right to due process without the proper consideration of the impact the freeze
has upon his right to counsel of his choice, and, by possible extension, upon his liberty interest
which is at stake in the criminal proceedings he now faces. |

The proceedings heretofore had in this matter are insufficient to safeguard Mr. McGinn’s
Fifth and Sixth Amendment rights as they are impacted by the pending criminal case, because
those proceedings were had in the context of the civil case and did not require the evidentiary
sholwing necessary to preclude the use of the Schedule A assets in Mr. McGinn’s criminal
defense. Likewise, those proceedings were insufficient to meet the standard required to show
that the Schedule A assets specifically are traceable to fraud. It is respectfully submitted that
“there can and will be no such showing. Absent any such showing, the only proper conclusion is
that the assets should be released to permit Mr. McGinn to fund the defense necessary to meet

the case brought by the U.S. Attorney’s Office.
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CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing and the accompanying Declarations of Timothy M. McGinn
and James C. Knox, Esq., Mr. McGinn respectfully requests that his motion to modify the July
22,2010 Order to release certain assets to pay attorney fees and costs be granted, along with

such other and further relief as the court deems appropriate in the interest of justice.

Dated: February 10, 2012

E. STEWART JONES, PLLC

N
AMES C. KNOX, ESQ.
{ BarRollNo. 517109
“. Attorneys for Defendant
\ﬁmothy M. McGinn
28 Second Street
Troy, NY 12180
Telephone: 518-274-5820
Facsimile: 518-274-5875
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. DECL TION O OTHY M. My
TIMOTHY M. McGINN hereby declarcs under penalty of perjury:

1. T u defendant in the above-captioned actions, and 1 currently reside at 126 Via
Palma Lane in Roca Raton, Florida.

2. Imake this declaration in support of my motion to modify the July 22, 2010
Preliminary Injupction Order (Case No. 10 Civ. 457 GLS-DRH) to release certain assets to pay
attorneys’ fees and costs, |

3. 1 consented to the July 22, 2010 Preliminary Order, however, the Court reserved my
right to seek a modification of the Order.

4, Un January 26, 2012, | was indicted in the above-captioned purallel vriminal casc in
the Northern District of New York (Case No. 1:12-CR-028-DNH).

5. Y am currently self-employed as a sales representative for Total Merchant Services
from which employment I receive an average monthly income of $2,800.

6. | ] also receive $1,876 in Social Security retirement benefits per month.

7. My \;vife is currently receiving $375 per month in unemployment.

8. My monthly household living expenses are $4,500, and, therefore, after paying those
expenses I am left with only §551 per month, including my wife’s unemployment benefit, in order to
pay for all additional expenses for my wife and myself, including attorney fees and the expense of
travel from my home in Florida .to New York to attend court.

9. 1 currently have no other sources of income or unrestrained assets.

10. Other than the aforementioned sources of income, all of my assets, including personal
and real property owned by me, are frozen pursuant to orders by Judge David R. Homer in the civil

action.

P.002
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11.  Attached hereto and made part hereof as Exhibit “A” is Schedule A, a schedule of
those assets which 1 seek to have released from the Preliminary Injunction.

12.  Unless those asscts listed in Schodui.e A are unfrozen and [ am pcrmittc‘d to
dispose of them through 'my attorneys, I will be unable to continue to retain counsel of my choice
in my criminal case, in violation of my rights under the Fifth and Sixth Amendments.

13. My attorney, E. Stewart Jones, Esq., has informed me that E. STEWART
JONES,:PLLC, reasonably anticipates that it will incur over $300,000 in future attomeys’ fees
and costs related to rﬁy defense prior to and in my upcoming criminal trial which will
presumiably begin in late 2012 ot 2013.

14.  Without a release of the asset freeze to enable me to pay my attorneys, they will
.be unable to continue to represent me in my criminal case.

15. Accordiﬁg]y, T have moved this Court to authorize the release ol my frozen assels
Jisted in Schedulc A for the payment of necessary and reasonable attomneys’ fees and costs
related to my criminal case.

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1746, I dec)are under the penalty of perjury that the foregoing is
true and correct. |

Dated: February 10, 2012
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EXHIBIT “A”
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SCHEDULE A

Timeshare Unit in Beaver Creek, Colorado: Unit 317, week 3, St. James Place, Avon
Colorado.

a. Purchased in 1991.

b. Estimated value; $35,000

c. Likely procceds: $25,000

Antigue Chinese War Lord Desk: Located in Clifton Park storage unit.
4. Purchascd in 1995
b. Estimated value: $15,000
¢c. Likely proveeds: $5,000

Oriental Rugs (9): Various locations, including Cliflun Park storage.
a. Purchased 1997 through 2007
b. Estimated value: $64,000
c. Likely proceeds: $25,000

Pine Tree Golf Club Membership Bond:
a. Purchased in 2000
b. Estimated value: $10,000
c. Likely proceeds: $7,000

Waterville Golf Links Membership Initiation Fee: Located in Ireland.
a. Purchased in 2003.
b. Estimated value: $25,000
¢. Likely proceeds: $20,000

. Watches and Jewelry: Breitling, serial No. A49350; Montblanc, model: Meisterstuk

a. Purchased 2002 through 2006
b. Estimated value: $10,000
c. Likely proceeds: $3,500

. Boca Raton Residence, 126 Via Palma Lane, Boca Raton, FL 334787

a. Purchased in 2007

Estimated value: $495,000

less Commissions ($29,700)
less Debt and Taxes (3425,000)
Net Equity: $40,300

an o

e

P.004
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f. Likely proceeds: $20,000.

8. Furniture and personal property at Boca Raton Residence
a. Purchased in 2007
b. Estimated value: $10,000
c. Likely procceds: $6,000

9. M & T Bank Account: Acct. No. 9849142675
a. Value: $9,480

10. McGinn Smith Retirement Account: Acct. No. 6726005003
a. Value: $7,350

TOTAL:
Estimated Yalue: $231,130

Likely Proceeds: $128,330
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DECLARATION OF JAMES C. KNOX

JAMES C. KNOX, under penalty of perjury, affirms as follows:

1. I am an attorney at law duly licensed to practice in the State of New York, and 1
am an associate with the law firm of E. STEWART JONES, PLLC, the attorney for defendant
TIMOTHY M. McGINN, and as such I am fully familiar with all the facts and circumstances in
this case.

2. This declaration is being made upon information and belief, except as to those
matters wherein it states that your declarant has actual knowledge thereof.

3. I make this declaration in support of defendant McGinn’s application for an order
modifying the Preliminary Injunction in Case No. 1:10-cv-00457-GLS-DRH to permit the
release of certain assets in order to pay the attorney fees of Mr. McGinn in Case No. 1:12-CR-
028-DNH .

4. On April 20, 2010, the Securities and Exchange Commission (“Commission”)
filed a Complaint (Case No. 1:10-cv-00457-GLS-DRH, Dkt. 1) naming, among others, Mr.
McGinn as defendant.

5. An Order was entered by the Court dated April 20, 2010 granting a temporary
restraining order which, among other things, froze assets owned by Mr. McGinn during the
pendency of the case (Case No. 1:10-cv-00457-GLS-DRH, Dkt. 5).’

6. On July 22, 2010, the Court granted the Commission’s Motion for a Preliminary
Injunction (Case No. 1:10-cv-00457-GLS-DRH, Dkt. 96), ordering, among other things, that Mr.
McGinn hold and retain, and otherwise prevent any withdrawal, transfer, pledge, encumbrance,
assignment, dissipation, concealment or other disposal of any assets, funds, or other property

(including money, real or personal property, securities, commodities, choses in action or other



Case 1:10-cv-00457-GLS-DRH Document 439-3 Filed 02/10/12 Page 3 of 60

property of any kind whatsoever) of, held by or under the direct or indirect control of, among
others, Mr. McGinn. Said Order is attached hereto as Exhibit A.

7. Mr. McGinn consented to the entry of said Order, and the Court reserved his right
to request modification of that Order at any time. See Exhibit A.

8. On January 26, 2012, Mr. McGinn was indicted by a federal grand jury on 27
counts including mail, wire and securities fraud and filing false tax returns (Case No. 1:12-CR-
028-DNH). A copy of the indictment is attached hereto as Exhibit B.

9. These charges are complex and varied, and the voluminous evidence in this case
increases the complexity of the case by several magnitudes. Based upon the past experience of
E. STEWART JONES, PLLC, handling the defense in white collar criminal trials having a
similar level of complexity, I anticipate that the cost of Mr. McGinn’s defense through the
anticipated criminal trial, including legal fees and disbursements, will exceed $300,000.

10.  Ihave reviewed the allegations in the January 26, 2012 Indictment, examined the
file to apprehend the large number of exhibits that will need to be reviewed, and estimated the
number of witnesses expected to be called at trial.

11 I anticipate that, among those witnesses, it will be necessary to call two to three
expert witnesses to testify regarding the tax and security counts against Mr. McGinn. These
experts will be necessary to defend this case, as their expert opinions will be required to address
the issues of the taxability of the loans in limited liability companies and disclosure requirements
in private placement memoranda, among other things.

12.  Due to the complexity of Mr. McGinn’s criminal case, I anticipate that the
criminal trial will take at least four weeks to complete and will require many months of trial

preparation, the likely filing of motions, along with other pre-trial and trial related costs.
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13. Additionally, as the trial is to take place in Utica, New York, some two hours
driving time from the location of E. STEWART JONES, PLLC, in Troy, New York, trial costs
will include the costs of living for counsel in Utica throughout the trial, as well as ordinary
expenses for copying fees, transcripts, courtroom technology, and experts.

14. It will be impossible for E. STEWART JONES, PLLC, to continue to defend the
case without the ability to recoup our disbursements, pay for expert witnesses and cover the
attorney fees accruing in the defense of this case.

15. Out of the fees and disbursements have been billed in the defense of this case,
$26,760 presently remains unpaid and owing.

16. [ anticipate that, even if the instant motion is granted, Mr. McGinn’s unfrozen
assets will fall far short of covering the estimated costs of his defense. However, they will cover
a significant portion of those expenses and thereby permit Mr. McGinn to make a substantial
down payment and permit E. STEWART JONES, PLLC—Mr. McGinn’s counsel of choice—to
continue that defense.

17.  The assets which Mr. McGinn seeks to be permitted to utilize to finance his
defense are listed in Schedule A, attached hereto as Exhibit “C.” Of those assets, all but Nos. 9
and 10 are real or personal property which must first be sold in order to be used to fund Mr.
McGinn’s defense.

18.  If the instant application is granted, E. STEWART JONES, PLLC, will undertake
to oversee the disposal of those illiquid assets and will fully disclose énd report to this Court the
details of the sale of each item.

19.  Due to the complex nature of Mr. Smith’s criminal case aﬁd the extensive amount

of documents and files that must be reviewed, we ask that the assets listed in Schedule A be
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released to pay for the reasonable and necessary attorneys’ fees that can be expected to be
incurred in our continuing representation of Mr. Smith.
20. It is respectfully requested that the Cburt grant relief sought in this motion along
with such other and further relief as the Court deems appropriate in the interest of justice.
Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1746, I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true
and correct.

Dated: February 10, 2012 C ’W

JAMES C. KNOX, ES}J
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EXHIBIT “A”
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMﬁSSION, :

. 45 a0

Plaintiff, :

-against- : 10 Civ.457 (GLS) (DRH)
MCGINN, SMITH & CO., INC.; :
MCGINN, SMITH ADVISORS LLC; :
‘MCGINN, SMITH CAPITAL HOLDINGS CORP,;  :
FIRST ADVISORY INCOME NOTES, LLC; :
FIRST EXCELSIOR INCOME NOTES, LLC; :
FIRST INDEPENDENT INCOME NOTES, LLC;  :
THIRD ALBANY INCOME NOTES, LLC; :
TIMOTHY M. MCGINN; AND ‘ .
DAVID L. SMITH, :
LYNN A. SMITH, :
Relief Defendant.

PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION ORDER

The Securities and Bxchange Commission (“Commission™) having filed a Complaint on

April 20, Nl&@@M&M@@ne@yh&vhgﬂﬁmOﬂa&ShowCansesaeﬁng‘
emergency relief; and the Court having entered an Order dated April 20, 2010 granting a
temporary restraining order; asset freeze end other relief against defendants McGinrn, Smith &

- Co., Inc. *MS & Co."™); McGinn, Smith Advisors LLC (“MS Advisors™); McGinn, Smith
"Capital Holdings Corp. (“MS Capital™); First Advisory Income Notes, LLC (“FAIN™); First
Excelsior Income Notes, LLC (“FEIN™); First Independent Income Notes, LLC (“FIIN™); Third
Albany Income Notes, LLC (“TAIN"); Timothy M. McGinn Wc@m’j; David L. Smith
(“Smith”} (collectively, the “Defendants™) and Lynn A. Smith (“Relief Defendant™); and

_Case 1:10-cV-00457-GLS-DRH_ Document 96 Filed 07/22/10. PAGS 10622 e 1o
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appointing a temporary Receiver over MS & Co., MS Advisors, MS Capital, FAIN, FEIN, FIIN
deAIN,mdaHotherenﬁﬁsMuGinnbrSnﬁﬁwonmlorhaveanowuets!ﬁpintetwtin,
including but not limited to the entities listed on Exhibit A (collectively, the “MS Entities™).
Defendants sud the Relief Defendant each having (1) enterod & general sppearince; (2)
consented to the Court’s jurisdiction over Defendants and Relief Defendant and the subject
matter of this action; (3) consented to entry of this Preliminary Injunction Order (the “Ordes™),
without admitting or denying the allegations of the Complaint, and reserving all rights to answer
oromerwiserewondtotheComplaim;@)waivedhdingsofﬁctandconéusiomofhwmrme
purposes of this Order only; (5) waived any right to appeal from this Order; and (6) reserved '
their rights to apply to this Court at any time for a modification of this Order. . ‘
The Court has considered: (1) the Complaint filed by the Commission on April 20, 2010;
{2) the Declaration of Isracl Mays, executed on April 19, 2019; (3) the Declaration of Roseann
Damello, executed on April 19, 2010; (4) the Declaration 6fLara Shalov Mehraban, executed on
April 19, 2010; (5) the Appendix of Exhibits in Support of Emergency Application; and (6) the
Memorandum of Law in support of the Comnﬁ&sion’s application, dated April 20, 2010.
Basedantheforegﬁng,theComtﬁndsthatapmpershc;wmgasqumedbySwﬁon
-20{b) of the Securities Act of 1933 (“Swuiti&eAct”);Secﬁon 21(d} 6fthe Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act™), Section 209(d) of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940 ‘
(“Advisers Act™), and Section 42(d) of the Investment Company Act of 1940 (“Company Act”)
has been made for the relief granted herein. |
" NOW, THEREFORE,
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L
I'T IS HEREBY ORDERED that the ‘Connnission’s Motion for a Preliminary Injunction
is GRANTED.
IL
IT IS BEREBY ORDERED that, pending a final disposition of this action, MS & Co.,
MS Capital, FAIN, FEIN, FIIN, TAIN, McGinn and Smith, and each of their agents, servants,
employees, atmmeys, and those persons in active concert or participation with them who receive
actaal notice of this Order by personal service, facsimile service or otherwise, are preliminarily
restrained and enjoined from violating, directly or indirectly, Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of the
Securities Act of 1933 (the “Securities Act”™), 15 U.S.C. §§ 77e(2) and 77¢(c).
11198
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, peading a final disposition of this action, MS & Co.,
MS Advisors, MS Capital, McGinn and Smith, and each of their agents, servants, employees,
attorneys, and those persons in active concert or participation with thm who receive actual
notice of this Order by personal service, facsimile service or otherwise, are preliminarily
restrained and enjoined from violating, directly or indirectly, Section 17(;) of the Securities Act,
15U.8.C. § 77q(a) and Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Bxchange
Act”), 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b) and Exchange Act Rule 10b-5 thereunder, 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5.
Iv.
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, pending s final disposiﬁon of this action, MS & Co.,
MS Advisors, McGinn and Smith, and each of their agents, servants, employees, attorneys, and
those pérsons in active concert or participation with them who receive actual notice of this Order

by personal service, facsimile service or otherwise, are pré]iminm'ily restrained and enjoined
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from violating, directly or indirectly, Sections 206(1), 206(2), and 206(4) of the Investment
Advisers Act of 1940 (“the Advisers Act”), 15 U.S.C. §§ 80b-6(1) and (2), and Rule 206(4)-8
thereunder, 17 C.FR. §275.206(4)-8.

V.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, pending a final disposition of this action, MS & Co.,
wchofi&aw&,mmts,emplomaﬁomy&mdthosepminacﬁvéoonc&tor '
participation with them who receive actual notice of this Order by personal service, facsimile
sefvice or otherwise, are preliminarily restrained and Wﬁomviolaﬁng, directly or
indirectly, Section 15(c)(1)}(A) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78(0)(1), and Smith and
McGinm, and each of their agents, servants, employees, attorneys, and those persons in active
concert or participation with them who receive actual notiqe of this Order bypusonél service,

. facsimile service or otherwise, are preliminarily restrained and enjoined from, directly or
indirectly, aiding and abetting & violation of Section 15(c)(1)(A) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C.
§ 78(oX1).

- VL

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, pending a final disposition of this action, FAIN,
FEIN, FIIN and TAIN, and each of their agents, servants, employees, attorneys, and those
persons in active concest or participation with them who receive actual notice of this Order by
personal service, facsimile service or otherwise, are preliminarily restrained and enjoined fmm
violating, directly or mduwtly, Section 7(a) of the Company Act, 15 U.S.C. § 80a-7.

VIL . .

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, pending a final disposition of this action, the

‘ Defendants and the Relief Defendant, and each of their financial and brokerage institutions,
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officers, agents, servants, te.mplc&ye&li,~ attorneys-in-fact, and those persons in active conoert or
participation with them who receive actual notice of this Order by personal service, facsimile
service or otherwise, and each of them, hold and retein within their control, and otherwise
prevent, smy withdrawal, transfer, pledge, encumbrence, assignment, dissipation, concealment or
other disposal of any assets, fonds, or other property (including money, real or personal property,
securities, commodities, choses in action or other property of any kind W} of, held by,
or under the direct or indirect control ofﬂxeDefegdan_tsand'ReliefDefendant, including but not
limmited to, the MS Entities, whether held in any of their names or for any of their direct or
indirect beneficial interest wherever situated, in whatever form such assets may presently exist
and wherever located within the territorial jurisdiction of the United States courts, and directing
each of the finamcial or brokerage institutions, debtors end bailees, or any other person or entity '
holding such essets, funds or ofher property of the Defendants and Relief Defendant to hold or
retain within its, his or her control and prohibit the withdrawal, removal, transfer or other
disposal of any such assets, funds or other properties including but not limited to, all assets,
funds, oro:hames held in the accounts listed on Exhibit B, as well as all real property
owned directly or indirectly by the MS Entities.
VIIL

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, pending final disposition of this action, William J.
Brown, Esq., who was appointed Temporary Receiver by the Court’s order dated April 20, 2010,
shell serve as Receiver over the MS Enfities, pending the final disposition of this action to (i)
preserve the status quo, (ii) ascertain the extent of commingling of fimds among the MS Enﬁﬁ&;;
(iii)ascertainthetmeﬁnanéial condition of the MS Entities and the disposition of investor
funds; (iv) prevent further dissipation of the property and assets of the MS Entities and all
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entities they control or have an ownership interest in; (v) prevent the encumbrance or disposal of
propexty or assets of the MS Bntities and the investors; (vi} preserve the books, records and
documents of the MS Entities; (vii) be available to respord to investor inquiries; and (viii)
determine whether the MS Entities should undertake bankruptcy filings.

To effectuate the foregoing, the Receiver is ampowered to:

(®) Takaandretahinmediatepossessionmdcon@lofaﬂof&eassds,indudhg

© butnot limited to all books, records and documeats, of the MS Enfities, and
aswume sll the rights and powers of these assets with respect thereto including the
powers set forth in the appliceble management agreements, by-laws, LLC
aémameatsnranyo&acontoﬁingagmements;

(b} Have nclusive(;ontrol of, and be made the sole authorized signatory for, ail
accounts at any bank, brokerage firm or financial instjtution that has possession or
contmlofanyaséetsorﬁmdsoﬂhebeEnﬁﬁw;

(©  Payfrom available funds of any MS Entity the necessary expenses required to
preserve the assets and property of the MS Entities, including the books, records,
and documents of the MS Entities and all entities they control or have an
‘ ownashipmtawtin,mmdthsmdingﬂ:eagsetﬁmehnposedbypmgmphvn,
above. This subparagraph does not, and is not intended to, effectuate or permit a
substantive consolidation of the estates except for the payment of expenses as
expressly set forth in this subparagraph;

. (d)  Succeed to all rights to manage all properties owned or controlled, directly or
indirectly, by the MS Entities, pursuant to applicable management agreements,
by-laws, LLC agreements, or other controlling agreements relating to each entity;
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T&keismpsmlmm&amyhavebemmnveyedmﬁﬁrdpdﬁ%or
otherwise concealed; '

“Take steps to ascertzin the disposition and use of funds obtained by the
Defendmtsmnlﬁngﬁ'omtliesaleofmniﬁesis;uedbyMSEnﬁﬁes;

Engage and employ persons, including accountants, attorneys and expests, to
assist in the carrying out of the Receiver's duties and responsibilities hereunder;
Establish a cash management system by closing, transferring, consolidating and
opening bank accounts and securities accounts, so long as records are kept of the
sources and uses of all funds;

Invest all cash of the MS Entities in U.S. gwamnentsecnritimortl.é.
government guaranteed securities having remaining maturities of up to two years
and in money market accounts maintained by financial institutions having net

worths of o less than $50 billion;

Discharge his duties as Receiver by making and authorizing in the ordinary course

payments and disbursements from the funds and assets under his control,
incurring expenses, and entering into agreements, including loan agreements and
credit facilities, all as reasonably necessary or advisable under the circumstances;
Investigate, prosecute, defend, intervene in, and otherwise participate in,
compromise and adjust actions in eny state, federal, administrative, or foreign
tribunal of any kind, or any potential actions or claims, as the Receiver believes in
his sole discretion advisable or proper to collect, conserve, or otherwise recover
the assets of the MS Entities, oréaﬁtisﬁ:eyown or comtrol;

Notwithstanding the terms of this Order, borrow momies and encumber assets of
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the MS Entitics, or the entities they own or contral, to the extent such actions are
deemed necessary by the Receiver based on his own experience and input from
his advisors to be most beneficial to preserving enterprise value for one or more
of the MS Entities and those entitled to proceeds; provided that encumbrances in
excess of $100,000 shall first require at least four (4) business days” written notice
(m&esshortwedbycmmordm‘)to.meConnnisﬁon,MoGinnand Smith (such
notice to be given to McGinn and Smith via ECF, facsimile, e-mail, and/or hand
delivery to their respective counsel of record), and such other MS Entity investors
having filed notices of appearance in the above-captioned case; provided further
that the Receiver may apply for an order under seal or a hearing in camera, as
Use, lease, sell, and convert into moi:eyal! assets of the MS Entities, either in
public or private sales or other transactions on terms the Receiver reasonably
believes based on his own experience and input from his advisors to be most
beneficial to the MS Entities and those entitled to the proceeds; provided,
howw&,aﬂlmmdsﬂmofpmpﬁtyapprﬁwdfororhavingaoostbasisof
$100,000 or more shall only be consummated ‘with prior court approval on af least
four (4) business days’ written notice (unless shortened by court order) to the
Commission, McGinn and Smith (soch notice to be given to McGinn and Smith
via ECF, facsimile, e-mail, and/or hend delivery to their respective counsel of
record), and creditors or MS Entity investors who have filed notices of
appemmceintheappmcemmeabmcapﬁonedme;pmvidedﬁntbadmt

the Receiver may apply for an order under seal or in camera, as circamstances



Case 1:10-cv-00457-GLS-DRH Document 439-3 Filed 02/10/12 Page 15 of 60
_Case 1:10-cv-00457-GLS-DRH_ Document 96 Filed 07/22/10 Page 9.0f22 .. .

require;

(@)  Take all necessary steps to gein control of the Defendants” interests in assets in
foreipn jurisdictions, including but not limited to taking steps necessary to
repatriate foreign assets; and

(n) Take such forther action as the Court shall deem equitable, just, and appropriate
under the circumstances upon proper application of the Receiver,

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Receiver and all persons who may be engeged or
employed by the Receiver to assist him in carrying out his duties and obligations hereunder, or
any of their partners, officers, directors, members, employees, or agents, shall be inmune from
liability for all actions or omissions within the scope of the Receiver’s authority. This provision
shallapp!ytodaﬁnsbaseﬂonoondnctdﬁdngthetermofmyamentent&‘edinﬁobetween
the Receiver and any other person who may be engeged or employed by the Receiver hereunder,

) ev‘enifsuchclaimsmﬁledaﬂztthete:mimﬁonofmysuchagreement
' X.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that if in accordance with this order the Receiver
deternines that any of the MS Entities, should undertake a bankruptcy filing, the Receiver be,
mdhmebyis,auﬂwxizedtocommmeammd&ﬁﬂellofﬁleUnitedStat&Codeforsudx
entities in this district, and in such cases the Recejver shall prosecute the bankruptcy petitions in
accordance with title 11 subjecttothesamepamuetersandobjecﬁv&casachaptallmmd
shall remain in possession, custody, and control of the title 11 estates subject to the rights of any
party in interest to challenge such possession, custody, and control under 11 U.S.C. § 543 or to
request a determination by this Court as to whether the Receiver should be deemed a debtor in
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possession or trustee, at  hearing, on due notice to all parties in interest, before the uadersigned.
Before taking action under this paragraph, however, at least two (2) business days’ written notice
(uniess shortened by court order) stating that the Receiver is contemplating action under title 11
must be provided to the Commission, McGinn and Smith (such notice to be given to the McGinn
end Smith via ECF, facsimile, e-meil, and/or hand delivery to their respective counsel of record),
and such otherMS Entity investors who request such notice; provided further that the Receiver
may apply for an order under seal or a hearing in camera as circumstances require.
XI.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERD that to facilitate efficient coordination in one district of all
bankruptcies of MS Entities and the eatities they own or control, the Northern District of New
Yark shall be the Receiver's principal place of business for making decisions in respect of
opmﬁnganddisposingofeachoftheMSEnﬁﬁwgndmﬁﬁ&s&xeyownoroonmLmdtheir
respective assets.

XII.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that in lieu of providing retainers to the Receiver and his
advisors, all payments made pursuant to the foregoing procedures prior to the initiation of any
voluntary or involuntary petition for relief under the United States Bankruptcy Code, or foreign
insolvency proceeding, shall be deemed payménts made according to ordinary business terms
and incurred in the ordinary course of business or financial affairs of the transferees and the MS
Entities and not subject to avoidance as a preferential payment.

Xm.

ITIs FURTHER ORDERED that no person or entity, including any creditor or

claimant agginst any of the Defendants or the Relief Defendant, or any person acting on behalf of

10
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mdlqedimorclaﬁnant,shalltakeanyaoﬁonwiﬂ\outfutmatorderofﬁle(}omttoinm'fete
with the taking control, possession or management of the assets, including but not limited to the
filing of any lawsuits, Bmsarmmbrmmbénhup!cymmhﬁpaatheﬁmpatysﬁd
assets subject to this order.

XIv.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Defendants and the MS Entities aro joiotly and
severally linble for the the reasonsble costs, fees and expenses of the Receiver incurred in
connection with the performance of his duties as described herein, including but not limited to,
the reasonable costs, fees and expenses of all person who may be engaged or employed by the
Receiver to assist him in carrying out his duties and obligations. All applications for costs, fees
mdexpeuswoftheReceivermdthéseagployedbyhimshaﬂ-bemadebyappﬁcaﬁonmthe
Courtsaﬁngﬁ)rthinmasouabledetaﬂthenatureofsuchcos:s,feesandexpmsé,withmﬁceto
sll parties and an opportunity to be heard.

XV.

HISFURTHERORDEREDthat,pmdingﬁmldispoﬁﬁonofﬂﬁsacﬁm;&xe
Defendants, the Relief Defendant, and any pérson or entity acting at their direction or on their
behslf, or any other person, including but not limited to any investor, who receives actual notice
of this Order by personal service or otherwise, are (1) restrained and enjoined from destroying,
altering, concealing or otherwise interfering with the access of Commission and the Receiver to
any and all documents, books and records, that are in the possession, custody or control of the
Defendants, the Relief Defendant, and each of their officers, agents, employees, servants,
accountents, financial or brokerage institutions, attomeys-in-fact, subsidiaries, affilistes,

" predecessors, successors and related entities, including but not limited to, the MS Entities, that

11



Case 1:10-¢cv-00457-GLS-DRH Document 439-3 Filed 02/10/12 Page 18 of 60

. Case 1:10-cv-00457-GLS-DRH_ Document 96 __Filed 07/22/10 . Page 12.0£22. ...

© e N

refer, reﬂec; ot relate to the allegations in the Compleint, including, without limitation,
documents, books, and records referring, reflecting or relating to the Defendants’ and the Relief
Defendant's finances or business operations; and (2) ordered to provide all reasonable
coopesstion to the Receiver in carrying out his duties set forth herein.
XVI.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that this Order shall be, and is, binding upon the
Defendants and Relicf Defeadant and each of their respective officers, agents, servants,
vanployees, attorneys-in-fact, subsidiaries, affiliates and those persons in active concert or
parﬁcipaﬁonwiththanwhomeiveaﬂunlnoﬁceofﬁzi_sérderhypamﬂ service, facsimile

‘ service, or otherwise.
) . -
Dated:ﬂgf’_ig__,zom IS;‘A—A / E QA I

Albany, New York ' UNITED STATES MAGISTRATE JUDGE

12
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Exhibit A
List of Known Entities Controlled By McGinn and/or Smith

107" Associates LLC Trust 07
107" Associates LLC
74 State Street Capital LP
Acquisition Trust 03
CMS Financial Services
Cruise Charter Ventures LLC dba YOLO Cruises
Cruise Charter Ventures Trust 08
First Advisory Income Notes LLC
First Bxcelsior Income Notes LLC
First Independent Income Notes LLC
FirstLine Junior Trast 07
FirstLine Senior Trust 07
FirstLine Trust 07 )
Fortress Trust 08
Integrated Excellence Junior Trust
Integrated Excellence Junior Trust 03
Integrated Exceflence Senior Trust
Integrated Excellence Senior Trust 08
IP Investors
James J. Carroll Charitable Fund
JGC Trust 00
KC Acquisition Cotp.

KMB Cable Holdings LLC
Luxury Cruise Center, Inc.
Laxury Cruise Holdings, LLC
Luxury Cruise Receivables, L1C
M & S Partners
McGinn, Smith & Co.
McGinn, Smith Acceptance Corp.
McGinn, Smith Advisors
McGinn, Smith Alarm Trading
McGinn, Smith Asset Management Corp.,
McGinn, Smith Capital Holdings
McGinn, Smith Cepital Management LLC
McGinn, Smith Financial Services Corp.
McGinn, Smith FirstLine Funding LLC
MoGinn, Smith Fanding LLC
McGim, Smith Group LLC
McGinn, Smith Holdings LLC
McGinn, Smith lndependent Services Corp.
McGinn, Smith Licensing Co.
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McGinn, Smith Treasaction Funding Corp.
Mr. Cranberry LLC

MS Partners

NEI Capital LLC

Pacific Trost 02

Point Capital LLC

Prime Vision Commmmications LLC
Prime Vision Communication Management Keys Cove LLC
Prime Vision Communications of Cutler Cay LLC
Prime Vision Funding of Cutler Cove LLC
Prime Vision Funding of Key Cove LLC
RTC Trust 02

SAI Trust 00

SAI Trust 03

Security Participation Trust I

Security Participation Trust I

Secarity Participation Trust Il

Security Participation Trust IV

Seton Hall Associates

TDM Cable Funding L1L.C

TDM Cable Trust 06

TDM Luxury Cruise Trust 07

TDM Verifier Trust 07

TDM Verifier Trust 07R

TDM Verifier Trust 08

TDM Verifier Trust 08K

TDM Verifier Trust 09

TDM Verifier Trust 11

TDMM Benchmark Trust 09

TDMM Ceble Funding LLC

TDMM Cable Jr Trust 09
TDMM Cable Sr Trust 69

Third Albany Income Notes LLC

Travel Liguidators, LLC

White Glove Cruises LLTC

White Glove LLC

(o)
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Known Bank Accounts

Inytitution Acconnt Number | Neme of Account Hahler| Accosut Nama 3
Mercantite Bank MEoss {107 Asvoc. LLC Trust 07
Mencaptile Bank 587|107k Associstes LLC

MAT Bank {107t Associates LLC

MATBuk | WESSEBeR |14 SmeSretCollP [Operatiog |

MAT Bark s |74 Swte Srert Cophel LP

MAT Bank % ﬁm& |Operating Account

M&T Buk Capital Center Crediz Corp (Oparatiog

NESFPidelity Center Crodit TIN DAVID P RERS
. Capital Center Credit Cosp!
| SPMomgsnChese o/ McGim Smith & Co
| Moaterey Bank Charter Cruise Ventures  {dbe YOLO Cruises
“MA&T Bk y CMS Financisl
. CMS Financial Services
M&Y Bank 2
Financial Services
M&T Bank Mloss ~ jcom.
* Momerey Bank s Cruiss Cherter Ventures YOLO Cruises
Cruise Charter Ventures
Marcantile Bank b2 jLic
|Crutsa Chater Ventures
Mescantite Bank o juc
| Cruise Chizries Ventures
Mercagtile Bank 208  [Tree08 -
{First Advisory Income
M&T Buzk Hbs2s  [Nows Cperming
Ferst Advisory Income: : 5
M&T Bk e Nows |Rscrow
- | Pimst Bxcelsior Income
M&T Bazk 37 [NowsLIC | Alarm Accurs Accoumt
lﬂmm i
M&T Bank 3 Operating
Charter One Bank | N |Escrow
Bxuﬁuthm
IPMorganChase sz e
Brcehsior Income
ey B et
M&T Bazk o3 Opernting

Independent Income ‘
. MATRank | 25 E Monisoring Contruct Accum
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Known: Bank Accounts
Ingtitution Arcount Number | Name of Account Holder| Accoant Name 2
Independent Income
Chrter Qwe Bunk Timothy MeGinm
Independent Income .
Fdbergenhase Ll
. Independent Income
| PMognChess | DS
T Y A
Senior Trust 07 [McGimn Smith Capital Holdings
Mercantile Bk 5107 Cosp TTEE
MAT Bek SrTvust07
Sr Trust 07 Sexies
MO Bunk
- SrTrust 07
Mercmtile Bank mm&mhm
MAT Buck ] _
mmmn mwm
Mevemfie Baok 10 907
: smacuaemm.
Mercantile Bank Trust 07 Sevies B{UAD 18/1607
M&T Bazk 358 Trust 07 Sesies B
"o McGlon Sexth: Copital
MEST Bark 13 Trt 08 i
~ Trust 03 UTD Sruith Cepital
Mrreantife Bank s . S Corp- TTES
Excellence Jr
MAT Bunk G 5
) Excellence Ir h&&m&iﬁ&pﬁﬂm
- Merczatite Bank by [Tt 0SDYD /2808 [Corp - TTEE
. Exvellence S
MET Bk . |y .
Excellence Sr m&-www
MegeantfieBank | DSOS 08 DTD 52708 __|Corp- TTEB
M&T Bk Investors LLC
fames J. Caroll Charitable
' MAT Bmk
MET Bok BT 15 Trust 00 [Operting cfo MoGinn Smith
Mercantife Bk 614 Cruise Ceater Inc
Mercantile Benk Cruise Ceater Inc
Lmcury Cruise Charter Inc.
Mercantiie Bank s [Peyebics
Cruise Recelvables
MeaotfeBak | ROSS
Cruise Receivables
Mcreantile Bank 967
MET Bk [M&S Partmers
TPhtorgenClase Smith & Co
| PPMorpanChase Swith& o

SR
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MAT Bk

MET Benk

MET Bank

ME&T Benk
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ExhB
Known Bank Accounts
Tostitatian Astount Nomber | Name of Account Holder Account Name 2
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Known Bank Accounts
Institutien Areount Number | Name of Account Halder Account Name 2
| NPSWdelty @ | 3 A
| NFSfFidelity | 12 Lysn A,
| Beakof Americs | A
| PMorpam(lase | A
MecotibBak | EDSO? Cuble Punding LLC |o/o McGinn Smith & Co
Cubls Fending LLC/
Mcreantile Buok Cable Trust 06 McGim Smith & Co
Cablo Funding LLC i
Verifier Trust 07
MAT Back Vesifier Trust 07
Cable Funding LLC
MET Beek 06 Account 06 Account
Tros
___MaTBuk T3 :
Luxury Crulse Trust Sewilh Capital Holdings
| Morcantile Berk | DID 11667 -TTEE
Marceztile Bank Verifier Trust 07
Mercamtits Bank 116 Vesifier Trust O7R
M&T Bk Verifier Trust 08 —
Verifier Trust 08 Smith Capitml Holdings
Mercantits Bank 030 12187 -TTEE
e ] Verifier Trust 08K Swaith Capinal
Mercantile Bank 132 121107 Com - TTEE
M&T Bunk Verifier Trust 09 -
: Verifier Trost 09 itn Swmith Holdings
e T D T
MET Bazk Verifier Trust §
MAT Bk | T3 Verifior Trust 1
Benchrri Trost
| METBumk :
Cubls Punding
Mercantile Bank o7 juic
) Cibler Y09 |McGina Sroith Cupita] Holdings
Mercartile Bank ) - TTEE
MaT Bank | N Cable Jr Trust 09
- Cablo S Te.09 Swnith Capital
Mercamile Bank 150 1/16/09 |Corp - TTER
M&T Bask | BES710  [TDMM Cuble Sr Trust 09 .
| M&TBark Bz [hid Albeny Income
| NFSFiddny I:ss  [Thind Albeny Income
M&T Bank G593 [Third Alexy Income Accum
| PMorgnChese | [JJNNPSS . [Third Atbany Income
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U.S. DISTRICT CouRT

ND.OF N
FILED
JAN 2§ 2012
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YOWRENCE K BAERMAN CLERK

ALBANY

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA :

. Criminal Number: |’ ] - CR-CI8-ONH

v. : . VIOLATIONS:
: 18 US.C. § 1349 (Conspiracy);
: 18 U.S.C. § 1341 (Mail Fraud);
18 U.S.C. § 1343 (Wire Fraud);
15 U.S.C. §§ 78j(b) and 781T;
17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5 (Securities Fraud);

an

24 e ae

TIMOTHY M. MCGINN and 26 U.S.C. § 7206(1) (Filing a False Return);
DAVID L. SMITH, : 18 U.S.C. § 2 (Aiding and Abetting and Causing
: an Act to be Done)
Defendants. : One Forfeiture Allegation
INDICTMENT
THE GRAND JURY CHARGES:

At all times relevant to this Indictment unless otherwise stated:
Relevant Persons and Entities

1. From in or about 1981 through on or about December 24, 2009, McGinn, Smith &
Co. Inc. (the “broker-dealer”) was a broker-dealer registered with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (“SEC”). The broker-dealer’s registration with the SEC allowed it to buy and sell
securities for itself and others.

2. The broker-dealer’s headquarters was in Albany, New York, and by in or about 2005,
it had more than 30 registered representatives working in, among other places, its offices in Albany,
Clifton Park, and New York, New York. In addition, the broker-dealer had a relationship with Lex

and Smith Associates, Ltd. in King of Prussia, Pennsylvania.
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3. Defendants TIMOTHY M. MCGINN and DAVID L. SMITH founded the broker-
dealer and each owned 50% of the broker-dealer until in or after about 2003, when MCGINN sold
20% of his interest in the broker-dealer to another person. From in or about September 2006 through
in or about December 2009, both MCGINN and SMITH were active in the day-to-day management
of the broker-dealer.

4. Among other things, the broker-dealer was engaged in the business of creating and
selling unregistered securities pursuant to Regulation D of the Securities Act 0f 1933, 17 CF.R.
§ 230.501 ¢t seq. Sales of these unregistered securities were generally limited to certain types of
investors including individuals who met minimum net worth and income requirements.

5. As part of the sales process, the broker-dealer provided investors with documents
describing the unregistered securities known as private placement memoranda (“PPMs”).

6. McGinn, Smith Capital Holdings, Corp. (“MS Capital”) was aNew York corporation
owned by defendant TIMOTHY M. MCGINN (25.5%), defendant DAVID L. SMITH (25 .5%), and
another company controlled either directly or indirectly by MCGINN and SMITH (49%).

7. From on or about September 29, 2006 through on or about January 21, 2009,
defendants TIMOTHY M. MCGINN and DAVID L. SMITH created the following limited liability
companies which they controlled either directly or indirectly: TDM Cable Funding, LLC; NEI
Capital LLC; TDMM Cable Funding, LLC; Mcéinn, Smith Funding LLC; and Cruise Charter
Ventures, LLC (collectively “the LLCs™).

8. McGinn, Smith Transaction Funding Corp. was a New York corporation con‘a’olled‘
by defendants TIMOTHY M. MCGINN and DAVID L. SMITH through McGinn, Smith Holdings

LLC, a New York limited liability company owned by defendant DAVID L. SMITH (50%),
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defendant TIMOTHY M. MCGINN (30%), and another person (20%). From on or about May 2,
2008 through on or about November 26, 2008, the broker-dealer raised approximately $6.8 million
from investors for McGinn, Smith Transaction Funding Corp. According to the PPM, investor
money would be used to (a) provide capital to close financial transactions originated by the broker-
dealer; (b) invest in other public and private securities; and (c) purchase $1.5 million of the broker-
dealer’s 2008 Series Cumulative Preferred Stock.

The Trusts
9. Between on or about October 23, 2006 and on or about July 10, 2009, on the

following dates, defendants TIMOTHY M. MCGINN and DAVID L. SMITH used MS Capital to

create the following 17 trusts (“the Trusts”) as defined in declarations of trust for each of the Trusts:

Name of Trust Trust Creation Date
TDM Cable Trust 06 10/23/06
TDM Verifier Trust 07 1/18/07
Firstline Trust 07 5/19/07
Firstline Sr. Trust 07 5/19/07
TDM Luxury Cruise Trust 07 T11/07
Firstline Trust 07 Series B 10/15/07
Firstline Sr. Trust 07 Series B 10/15/07
TDM Verifier Trust 08 12/11/07
Integrated Excellence Jr. Trust 08 5/27/08
Integrated Excellence Sr. Trust 08 527/08
Fortress Trust 08 9/10/08
TDM Verifier Trust 09 12/12/08
TDMM Cable Jr. Trust 09 1/16/09
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Name of Trust Trust Creation Date
TDMM Cable Sr. Trust 09 1/16/09
TDM Verifier Trust 07R 1/29/09
TDM Verifier Trust 08R 6/30/09
TDMM Benchmark Trust 09 7/10/09

10.  From in or about October 2006 through in or about November 2009, defendants
TIMOTHY M. MCGINN and DAVID L. SMITH used the broker-dealer to offer and sell
approximately $37 million of unregistered securities to investors in the form of investments in the
Trusts.

11.  According to the PPMs prepared for the offering and sale of these investments in the
Trusts, after deducting fees and other deal costs, such as underwriting fees, investor money would
be provided to one of the LLCs or McGinn, Smith Transaction Funding Corp,, which had entered
into or would enter into an agreement with a third party requiring payments from the third party.
Those agreements were related to (a) burglar alarm, broadband, cable, and telephone services; (b)
loans to companies providing those services; (c) guaranteed payment units (scheduled payments)
from an entity providing capital to companies providing those services; and (d) huxury cruise charters
and travel agencies (the “Agreements”).

12.  According to the PPMs, investors would receive principal and interest payments
ranging from 7.75% to 13% over twelve to sixty-six months. When there were two classes of
contract certificates — the senior and junior classes — the senior certificates offered a lower interest

rate and a higher priority of repayment, while the junior certificates offered a higher interest rate and

a lower priority of repayment.
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13.  According to the PPMs, the broker-dealer would receive approximately $2.2 million
in underwriting fees from the Trusts. Between in or about 2006 and 2009, the broker-dealer received
in excess of $6 million in connection with transactions related to the Trusts, of which approximately
$1.8 million was paid directly from the Trusts and booked as underwriting fees. Approximately 80%
of the more than $6 million paid to the broker-dealer consisted of investor money.

14.  The trustee for each of the trusts was MS Capital, and, according to the PPMs, the
trustee would not receive any fees for its services.

15.  As direct and indirect owners of MS Capital, defendants TIMOTHY M. MCGINN
and DAVID L. SMITH owed a legal duty to investors requiring that they not put their own interests
ahead of the interests of investors.

16. With the exception of TDM Cable Trust 06, the declarations of trust for all of the
Trusts, which were attached to the PPMs, limited the use of investor money tlo the direct or indirect
acquisition of revenue streams created by the Agrcerhents and temporary investments in
(1) certificates of deposit; (2) short term AAA rated debt obligations regularly traded on a recognized
exchange in the United States; or (3) obligations issued by the United States Treasury or other
obligations backed by the full force and credit of the United States (the “Permitted Investments™).

The Firstline Trusts

17.  Firstline Security, Inc. (“Firstline”) was a Utah corporation engaged in the business
of selling primarily residential security alarm contracts.

18.  ADT Security Services, Inc. (“ADT”) was Firstline’s dealer for security alarm

contracts, and ADT had a security interest in all alarm contracts generated by Firstline.
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19.  On or about May 9, 2007, defendant TIMOTHY M. MCGINN, as Chairman of
McGinn, Smith Funding LLC, executed an agreement with Firstline promising to lend Firstline
approximately $2.8 million secured by alarm contracts generated by Firstline (the “May Loan™).
From in or about September 2007 through in or about April 2012, Firstline was required to make
monthly payments on the May Loan.

20.  Onor about May 19, 2007, MS Capital formed Firstline Trust 07 for the purpose of
acquiring two classes in the Firstline financing.

21.  Between on or about May 24, 2007, and on or about January 4, 2008, the broker-
dealer raised approximately $3.7 million from investors who purchased unregistered securities from
Firstline Trust 07 and Firstline Sr. Trust 07 (the “Firstline Trusts™) in return for monthly payments
on their investments to be paid from the revenue stream produced by the May Loan. In connection
with these sales, defendants TIMOTHY M. MCGINN and DAVID L. SMITH concealed, disguised,
and failed to disclose to Firstline Trust 07 and Firstline Sr. Trust 07 investoré that in connection with
the May Loan they had paid themselves $620,000 from McGinn, Smith Funding LLC above and
beyond what was disclosed in the PPMs.

22.  From inor about September 2007 through in or about December 2007, Firstline made

the scheduled monthly payments on the May Loan.

23.  On or about August 8, 2007, Firstline’s Chief Executive Officer told defendant
TIMOTHY M. MCGINN that ADT had informed Firstline that Firstline was in breach of its dealer
agreement, and on October 4, 2007, Firstline’s attorney told McGinn, Smith Funding LLC that ADT

might sue Firstline and seek more than $7.5 million in damages related to the breach (the “Potential

ADT Litigation™).
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24.  Beginning on or about August 8, 2007, defendants TIMOTHY M. MCGINN and
DAVID L. SMITH concealed, disguised, and failed to disclose the Potential ADT Litigation to the
existing and prospective Firstline Trust investors.

25.  On or about October 4, 2007, defendant TIMOTHY M. MCGINN, as Chairman of
McGinn, Smith Funding LLC, executed an agreement with Firstline promising to lend Firstline
approximately $2.4 million secured by alarm contracts generated by Firstline (the “October Loan”).
From in or about January 2008 through in or about October 2012, Firstline was required to make
monthly payments on the October Loan.

26. Between in or about October 29, 2007, and in or about June 16, 2008, the broker-
dealer raised approximately $3.2 million from investors who purchased unregistered securities from
Firstline Trust 07 Series B and Firstline Sr. Trust 07 Series B (the “Firstline Series B Trusts™) in
return for monthly payments on their investments from the revenue stream produced by the October
Loan. In connection with these sales, defendants TIMOTHY M. MCGINN and DAVID L. SMITH
concealed, disguised, and failed to disclose to Firstline Series B Trust investors (a) the Potential
ADT Litigation; and (b) that in connection with the October Loan they planned to pay themselves
$315,000 from McGinn, Smith Funding LLC above and beyond what was disclosed in the PPMs.

27. On or about November 20, 2007, ADT filed a lawsuit in Arapahoe County, Colorado
against Firstline, the broker-dealer, and others alleging that Firstline was in breach of the dealer
agreement and seeking the appointment of a receiver for Firstline (the “ADT Litigation™).

28. Between on or about November 20, 2007 and June 16, 2008, in connection with the
sale of contract certificates for the Firstline Series B Trusts, defendants TIMOTHY M. MCGINN

and DAVID L. SMITH, in violation of their legal duty to disclose material information to investors,
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concealed, disguised, and failed to disclose the ADT Litigation to existing and prospective Firstline
Series B Trust investors.

29.  Beginninginor about J anuary 2008, Firstline stopped making payments on the May
Loan and failed to make its first payment on the October Loan.

30.  On or about January 25, 2008, Firstline filed a voluntary petition for Chapter 11
bankruptcy in United States Bankruptcy Court in the District of Utah.

31.  From in or about January 2008 through in or about September 2009, Firstline made
no payments on the May and October Loans, and there was no income stream to make payments to
investors.

32.  From in or about January 2008 through in or about September 2009, the Firstline and
Firstline Series B Trusts continued to make approximately $2 million in payments to investors by
diverting money from trusts and entitie_;; controlled by defendants TIMOTHY M. MCGINN and
DAVID L. SMITH, including, among other trusts and entities, TDM Cable Trust 06; TDM Verifier
Trust 07; Integrated Excellence Jr. Trust 08; TDM Luxury Cruise Trust 07, TDM Verifier Trust
07R; and TDM Cable Funding, LLC when, as MCGINN and SMITH then well knew, this was not
a permitted use of investor funds in those trusts as defined by the relevant PPMs and the declarations
of trust. Defendant TIMOTHY M. MCGINN directed these improper diversions of funds, which
misted the Firstline and Firstline Series B investors into believing that the income streams in which
they had invested were performing well.

33, From in or about January 2008 through in or about September 2009, defendants
TIMOTHY M. MCGINN and DAVID L. SMITH concealéd, disguised, and failed to disclose to

existing and prospective Firstline and Firstline Series B investors that (a) Firstline had defaulted on
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the May and October Loans; (b) Firstline had filed for bankruptcy; and (c) contrary to the PPMs for
the Firstline and Firstline Series B Trusts, iﬁvcstor payments had been and would be made using
money improperly diverted from entities controiled by defendants TIMOTHY M. MCGINN and
DAVID L. SMITH including, among other trusts and entities, TDM Cable Trust 06; TDM Verifier
Trust 07; Integrated Excellence Jr. Trust 08; TDM Luxury Cruise Trust 07; TDM Verifier Trust
07R; and TDM Cable Funding, LLC.

34.  From in or about January 2008 through in or about September 2009, defendants
TIMOTHY M. MCGINN and DAVID L. SMITH concealed, disguised, and failed to disclose to
investors in TDM Cable Trust 06; TDM Verifier Trust 07; Integrated Excellence Jr. Trust 08; TDM
Luxury Cruise Trust 07; and TDM Verifier Trust 07R that money had been improperly diverted to
make payments to Firstline and Firstline Series B investors when, as MCGINN and SMITH then
well knew, this was not a permitted use of investor funds as defined by the PPMs and the
declarations of trust.

35. From on or about January 25, 2008 through on or about June 16, 2008, after Firstline
filed for bankruptcy, the broker-dealer sold unregistered securities for Firstline Trust 07 Series B
and Firstline Sr. Trust 07 Series B including approximately $600,000 of unregistered securities for
Firstline Trust 07 Series B to replace an investment made by a broker’s father and, in connection
with those sales, defendants TIMOTHY M. MCGINN and DAVID L. SMITH concealed, disguised,
and failed to disclose to these new investors that (a) Firstline had defaulted on the May and October
Loans; (b) Firstline had filed for bankruptcy; and (c) contrary to the PPMs for the Firstline and
Firstline Series B Trusts, investor payments had been and would be made using money improperly

diverted from trusts and entities controlled by defendants TIMOTHY M. MCGINN and DAVID L.
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SMITH including, among other trusts and entities, TDM Cable Trust 06; TDM Verifier Trust 07;
Integrated Excellence Jr. Trust 08; TDM Luxury Cruise Trust 07; TDM Verifier Trust 07R; and
TDM Cable Funding, LLC.

36.  On or about September 10, 2009, more than 19 months after Firstline filed for
bankruptcy and defaulted on the May and October Loans, defendants TIMOTHY M. MCGINN and -
DAVID L. SMITH first notified Firstline and Firstline Series B investors of Firstline’s January 25,
2008 bankruptcy filing and the defaults on the May and October Loans by mailing investors a
memorandum from the general counsel for the broker-dealer. The memorandum falsely stated that
(a) post-bankruptcy investor payments had been funded by an unidentified lender when, as MCGINN
and SMITH then well knew, the payments to investors had been made with money improperly
diverted from trusts and entities controlied by MCGINN and SMITH; and (b) Firstline had concealed
the Potential ADT Litigation when, as MCGINN and SMITH then well knew, Firstline had disclosed
the Potential ADT Litigation approximately two years earlier.

The Integrated Excellence Trusts

37.  Integrated Excellence, Inc. was a Georgia corporation engaged in the business of
selling residential security alarm contracts. Integrated Excellence Funding, LLC was a Georgia
corporation created for the purpose of obtaining capital for Integrated Excellence, Inc.

38.  OnoraboutMay 27,2008, MS Capital formed Integrated Excellence Sr. Trust 08 and
Integrated Excellence Jr. Trust 08 (“the Integrated Excellence Trusts™) for the purpose of acquiring
two classes in the Integrated Excellence Funding, LLC financing.

39.  On or about May 28, 2008, defendant TIMOTHY M. MCGINN, as Chairman of

McGinn, Smith Transaction Funding Corp., executed an agreement with Integrated Excellence

10



Case 1:10-cv-00457-GLS-DRH Document 439-3 Filed 02/10/12 Page 40 of 60
Case 1:12-cr-00028-DNH Document 1 Filed 01/26/12 Page 11 of 28

Funding, LLC promising to lend money to Integrated Excellence Funding, LLC secured by alarm
contracts generated by Integrated Excellence, Inc. From on or about May 29, 2008 through on or
about August 1, 2008, Integrated Excellence Funding, LLC borrowed approximately $697,815 under
the terms of that agreemcﬁt (the “Integrated Excellence Loans™).

40.  Between in or about June 2008 and in or about August 2013, Integrated Excellence
Funding, LLC was required to make monthly payments on the Integrated Excellence Loans.

41.  Between on or about June 9, 2008 and on or about September 26, 2008, the broker-
dealer raised approximately $1.2 million from investors who purchased unregistered securities from
the Integrated Excellence Trusts in return for monthly payments on their investments to be paid from
the revenue stream produced by the Integrated Excellence Loans.

42. On or about July 1, 2008 and on or about July 15, 2008, defendants TIMOTHY M,
MCGINN and DAVID L. SMITH, who were officers and owners of the Trustee for Integrated
Excellence Jr. Trust 08, for their own benefit and without authorization, improperly diverted $85,000
from an escrow account holding investor funds for Integrated Excellence Sr. Trust 08 to their
personal bank accounts, and between in or about July 2008 and in or about April 2010, MCGINN
and SMITH concealed, disguised, and failed to disclose to investors that they had done so.

43.  Inorabout August 2008, defendant TIMOTHY M. MCGINN directed that $142,000
be improperly diverted from an escrow account holding investor funds for Integrated Excellence Jr.
Trust 08 and be used to make investor payments to Firstline Sr. Trust 07 investors and TDM Luxury
Cruise Trust 07 investors, and from in or about August 2008 through in or about April 2010,
defendants MCGINN and DAVID L. SMITH concealed, disguised, and failed to disclose to (a)

Integrated Excellence Jr. Trust 08 investors that they did so when, as MCGINN and SMITH then

11
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well knew, this was not a permitted use of investor funds as defined by the PPMs and declarations
of trust; and (b} Firstline Sr. Trust 07 and TDM Luxury Cruise Trust 07 investors that, contrary to
the relevant PPMs and declarations of trust, their investor payments had been and would be made
using money improperty diverted from the Integrated Excellence Jr. Trust 08.

44. From in or about June 2008 through in or about December 2009, Integrated
Excellence Funding, LLC, through another entity, made monthly payments on the Integrated
Excellence Loans totaling approximately $244,709, which loan payments were not sufficient to
cover payments of approximately $283,159 due to the Integrated Excellence investors.

45.  Between in or about June 2008 and in or about December 2009, defendant TIMOTHY
M. MCGINN directed that the Intggrated Excellence Trusts continue to make payments due 0
investors by diverting money from trusts and entities controlled by defendants TIMOTHY M.
MCGINN and DAVID L. SMITH, including, among other trusts and entities, TDM Luxury Cruise
Trust 07 and TDMM Cable Sr. Trust 09 when, as MCGINN and SMITH then well knew, this was
not a permitted use of investor funds as defined by the relevant PPMs and the declarations of trust,
and between in or about June 2008 and in or about February 2010, MCGINN and SMITH concealed,
disguised, and failed to disclose to investors in the TDM Luxury Cruise Trust 07 and TDMM Cable
Sr. Trust 09 that they had done so. These payments misled the Integrated Excellence Trust investors
into believing that the income streams in which they had invested were performing well.

46.  Between in or about June 2008 and in or about February 2010, defendants TIMOTHY
M. MCGINN and DAVID L. SMITH concealed, disguised, and failed to disclose to the Integrated
Excellence investors that (i) the Integrated Excellence Loans were not generating sufficient revenue

to make monthly investor payments; and (i) contrary to the PPMs for the Integrated Excellence

12
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Trusts, investor payments had been and would be made using money improperly diverted from trusts
and entities controlled by MCGINN and SMITH including, among other trusts and entities, TDM

Luxury Cruise Trust 07 and TDMM Cable Sr. Trust 09.

TIMOTHY M. MCGINN and DAVID L. SMITH Improperly Divert $4.1 Million for Their
Own Benefit and the Benefit of a Senior Managing Director of the Broker-Dealer

47. Between on or about October 2, 2006 and on or about August 28, 2009, defendants
TIMOTHY M. MCGINN and DAVID L. SMITH for their own benefit and the benefit of Matthew
Rogers, a senior managing director of the broker-dealer, and without authorization, improperly
diverted approximately $4.1 million above and beyond what was disclosed in the relevant PPMs
from the LLCs; Integrated Excellence Jr. Trust 08; TDMM Cable Jr. Trust 09; and McGinn, Smith
Transaction Funding Corp. as follows when, as MCGINN and SMITH then well knew, these
transfers were not a permitted use of investor funds as defined by the relevant PPMs and declarations
of trust:

(A)  Between on or about October 2, 2006 and on or about August 28, 2009, in
connection with transactions related to many of the Trusts, MCGINN and
SMITH improperly diverted approximately $3.8 million from the LLCs to
their own and Rogers’s personal bank accounts and to pay $40,000 to
Waterville Golf Links in Ring of Kerry, Ireland for a membership for Rogers;

(B)  Inorabout July 2008, MCGINN and SMITH, who were officers and owners
of the Trustee for Integrated Excellence Sr. Trust 08 (MS Capital),
improperly diverted _approximately $85,000 directly from an escrow account

holding investor funds for Integrated Excellence Sr. Trust 08 to their personal

13
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bank accounts;
(C)  Onorabout April 30, 2009, MCGINN, who was an officer and owner of the
Trustee for TDMM Cable Jr. Trust 09 (MS Capital), improperly diverted
approximately $30,000 directly from an escrow account holding investor
funds for TDMM Cable Jr. Trust 09 to his personal bank account; and
(D) From on or about August 22, 2008 through on or about July &, 2009,
MCGINN improperly diverted approximately $230,000 from McGinn, Smith
Transaction Funding Corp., to his personal bank accounts, and on or about
February 27, 2009, MCGINN repaid $100,000 of the money that he had
taken.
48,  Betweenin or about October 2006 and in or about April 2010, defendants TIMOTHY
M. MCGINN and DAVID L. SMITH concealed, disguised, and failed to disclose to investors in the
Trusts that for their own benefit and the benefit of Matthew Rogers and without authorization they
had improperly diverted approximately $4.1 million from the LLCs; Integrated Excellence Jr. Trust
08; TDMM Cable Jr. Trust 09; and McGinn, Smith Transaction Funding Corp. above and beyond
what was disclosed in the relevant PPMs. MCGINN received approximately $1,616,142
(approximately $1,386,142 of which was related to the Trusts), and SMITH received approximately
$1,567,000.
49.  Between in or about October 2006 and in or about August 2009, defendant
TIMOTHY M. MCGINN used the money that had been improperly diverted to his personal bank
accounl;s for, among other things: (a) expensesrelated to his homes in Niskayuna, New York (at least

$129,997) and Boca Raton, Florida (at least $63,808); (b) thoroughbred face horses (at least

14
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$39,458); (c) alimony (at least $147,942); (d) loan payments to defendant DAVID L. SMiTH and
his wife (at least $255,000); (e) country club expenses at, among others, Waterville Golf Links in
Ring of Kerry, Ireland; Pine Tree Golf Club in Boynton Beach, Florida; and Schuyler Meadows in
Loudonville, New York (at least $54,414); (f) payments to investment accounts (at least $62,250);
and (g) income tax payments (at least $89,642).

50.  Between in or about October 2006 and in or about August 2009, defendant DAVID
L. SMITH used the money that had been improperly diverted to his personal bank accounts for,
among other things: (a) expenses related to his homes in Orchid Island, Florida (at least $145,445)
and Saratoga Springs, New York (at least $86,334), (b) country club expenses at among others,
Waterville Golf Links in Ring of Kerry, Ireland; Orchid Island Golf and Beach Club in Vero Beach,
Florida; Schuyler Meadows in Loudonville, New York; and Saratoga Golf and Polo Club in
Saratoga, New York (at least $57,928); (c) payments to investment accounts (at least $810,000); and
(d) income tax payments (at least $145,092).

Defendants TIMOTHY M. MCGINN and DAVID L. SMITH Direct
False Accounting Entries Regarding the Improperly Diverted $4.1 Million

and Fail to Declare It On Their Tax Returns

51.  Inor about October 2007, defendant DAVID L. SMITH directed accountants at the
broker-dealer and an outside accounting {irm to reclassify transactions regarding money improperly
diverted in 2006 from TDM Cable Funding, LLC to the personal bank accounts of MCGINN,
SMITH, and Rogers as “loans’™ when, as he then well knew, (a) they were not “loans”; (b} they were
not a permitted use of investor funds as defined by the PPM and the declaration of trust for TDM

Cable Trust 06; and (c) they were not disclosed in the TDM Cable Trust 06 PPM as “loans.”

15
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52.  Between in or about October 2007 and in or about the fall of 2009, at the direction
of defendants TIMOTHY M. MCGINN and DAVID L. SMITH, accountants at the broker-dealer
continued to book the money that had been improperly diverted from the LLCs as “loans™ when, as
MCGINN and SMITH then well knew (a) they were not “loans,” (b) they were not a permitted use
of investor funds as defined by the relevant PPMs and the declarations of trust, and (c) they were not
disclosed in the relevant PPMs as “loans.”

53.  Between in or about October 2007 and in or about October 2009, defendants
TIMOTHY M. MCGINN and DAVID L. SMITH and Matthew Rogers failed to declare the $4.1
million improperly diverted for their own benefit on their federal income tax returns for tax years
2006, 2007, 2008, and 2009.

54. In or about November 2008 and in or about the spring of 2009, defendants
TIMOTHY M. MCGINN and DAVID L. SMITH did not include any of the money that had been
improperly diverted for their own benefit as “loans™ on audited personal financial statements
prepared by their outside accountant.

55.  From in or about September 2009 through in or about January 2010, defendants
TIMOTHY M. MCGINN and DAVID L. SMITH misled the broker-dealer’s regulator, Financial
Industry Regulatory Authority, Inc. (“FINRA”), about the money that had been diverted from the
LLCs by (1) directing the creation of backdated promissory notes to support the false “loan”
accounting entries discovered by FINRA; and (2) causing the submission of the backdated
promissory notes to FINRA.

56.  On or about November 2, 2009, afier discovering that defendant TIMOTHY M.

MCGINN had improperly diverted money from McGinn, Smith Transaction Funding Corp.,
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defendant DAVID L. SMITH, to conceal the source of the diverted funds, directed an accountant for
the broker-dealer to make a false accounting entry indicating that MCGINN had taken $130,000
from NEI Capital LLC.

Count One
{Conspiracy to Commit Mail and Wire Fraud)

57.  Paragraphs One through Fifty-Six are hereby realleged and incorporated by reference
as if fully set forth herein.

58.  From on or about September 29, 2006 through on or about April 20, 2010, within the
Northern District of New York and elsewhere, defendants TIMOTHY M. MCGINN and DAVID L.
SMITH and others conspired to commit the following offenses:

a. Mail Fraud, by devising and intending to devise a scheme and artifice to defraud
investors by soliciting investments under false pretenses and concealing, disguising, and failing to
disclose material information, and for obtaining money and property by means of materially false
and fraudulent pretenses, representations, promises, and material omissions and for the purpose of
executing such scheme and artifice and attempting so to do, knowingly placed, caused to be placed,
and took and received in a post office and authorized depository for mail certain matters, documents,
letters, and mailings to be sent or delivered by the United States Postal Service and/or by any private
or commercial interstate carrier, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1341;

b. Wire Fraud, by devising and intending to devise a scheme and artifice to defraud
investors by soliciting investments under false pretenses and concealing, disguising, and failing to
disclose material information, and for obtaining money and property by means of materially false

and fraudulent pretenses, representations, promises, and material omissions, and for the purpose of
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executing such scheme and artifice and attempting so to do, transmitted and caused to be transmitted
by means of wire, radio, and television communication in interstate commerce any writings, signs,
signals, and sounds, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343.

Purpo

59. A purpose of the conspiracy was to mislead investors regarding the safékeeping and
use of investor money by the Trusts and McGinn, Smith Transaction Funding Corp.; the risks of the
Trust and McGinn, Smith Transaction Funding Corp. offerings; the performance of the underlying
income streams; the source of payments to investors; and the improper diversion of investor money,
all done in order to obtain money from investors and enrich themselves.

Manner and Means

60.  MCGINN, SMITH, and their co-conspirators made and caused to be made numerous
material misrepresentations and material omissions designed to mislead prospective and existing
investors regarding the risks of the Trust and McGinn, Smith Transaction Funding Corp. offerings;
the use of investor money; the performance of the underlying income streams; the source of investor
payments; and the improper diversion of investor money.

61.  Asaresult of the material misrepresentations and material omissions by MCGINN,
SMITH and their co-conspirators, investors in the Trusts were not aware that MCGINN and SMITH
had improperly diverted money for their own use and without authorization directly from escrow
accounts containing investor money for Integrated Excellence Sr. Trust 08 and TDMM Cable Ir.
Trust 09.

62.  As aresult of the material misrepresentations and material omissions by MCGINN,

SMITH and their co-conspirators, investors in the Trusts were not aware that MCGINN and SMITH
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had improperly diverted money from an escrow account containing investor money for Integrated
Excellence Jr. Trust 08 to make payments to Firstline Sr. Trust 07 and TDM Luxury Cruise Trust
07 investors.

63.  As aresult of the material misrepresentations and material omissions by MCGINN,
SMITH, and their co-conspirators, investors in the Trusts were not aware that for their own benefit
and the benefit of Matthew Rogers and without authorization, MCGINN and SMITH had improperty
diverted $3.9 million from the LLCs above and beyond what was disclosed in the PPMs.

64.  As aresult of the material misrepresentations and material omissions by MCGINN,
SMITH, and their co-conspirators, investors in the Trusts and McGinn, Smith Transaction Funding
Corp. were not aware that MCGINN, for his own benefit and without authorization, had improperly
diverted $230,000 from McGinn, Smith Transaction Funding Corp. above and beyond what was
disclosed in the PPM.

65.  As aresult of the material misrepresentations and material omissions by MCGINN,
SMITH and their co-conspirators, investors in the Trusts were not aware of: (a) the Potential ADT
Litigation; (b) the ADT Litigation; (c) Firstline’s defaults on the May and October Loans; (d)
Firstline’s bankruptcy petition; (¢) the failure of the underlying income streams to generate sufficient
income o pay investors in the Firstline and Firstline Series B Trusts and the Integrated Excellence
Trusts; and (f) the diversion of money to pay Firstline, Firstline Series B, and Integrated Excellence
Trust investors.

66.  Part of the manner and means of the conspirators’ scheme to defraud consisted of
misleading investors into believing that the income streams in which they had invested were

performing well by making payments to investors with money improperly diverted from other trusts
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and entities centrolled by defendants TIMOTHY M. MCGINN ‘and DAVID L. SMITH.

67.  As part of the conspiracy, the broker-dealer routinely used the United States mail,
private mail carriers, electronic mail, interstate facsimiles, and interstate wire transfers from financial
institutions located outside New York State to send investment documents, PPMs, and investor
payments. The broker-dealer alse routinely obtained investor money through interstate wire transfers

. from financial institutions located outside New York State and through mailings delivered by the
United States Postal Service and private mail carriers. Most of these mailings came to and from
Albany and Clifton Park in the Northern District of New York.

68.  Theuse of the mails and interstate wires was foreseeable, and defendants TIMOTHY
M. MCGINN and DAVID L. SMITH were aware that use of the mails and interstate wires would
follow in the ordinary course of business,

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1349,

COUNTS TWO THROUGH EIGHT
(Mail Fraud)

69.  Paragraphs One through Fifty-Six and Fifty-Nine through Sixty-Eight are hereby
realleged and incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein.

70.  From in or about September 2006 through in or about December 2009, in the
Northemn District of New York and elsewhere, defendants TIMOTHY M. MCGINN and DAVID L.
SMITH devised and intended to devise a scheme and artifice to defraud investors by soliciting
investments under false pretenses and concealiné, disguising, and failing to disclose material
information, and to obtain money and property by means of material false and fraudulent pretenses,

representations, promises, and material omissions and attempting to do so.
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71.  Forthe purpose of executing such scheme and to obtain money and property by means
of material false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, promises, and material omissions and
attempting to do so, defendants TIMOTHY M. MCGINN and DAVID L. SMITH, in the Northern
District of New York and elséwhere, on or about the following dates knowingly placed, caused to
be placed, and took and received in a post office and authorized dépository for mail certain matters,

documents, letters, and mailings to be sent or delivered by the United States Postal Service and/or

by any private or commercial interstate carrier, the following matters and things to and from the

addresses listed below:
Count | Date Matter or Thing Address
2 1072007 A private placement memorandum for Firstline Trust | Delivered to:
07 Series B T.B.
Guilderland, NY
3 12/18/2007 { A $50,000 check from M. & K.D. to purchase Delivered to:
contract certificates from Firstline Sr. Trust 07 Series } McGinn, Smith & Co. Inc.
B Clifton Park, NY
4 01/28/2008 | A letter of authorization for a $30,000 wire transfer Delivered to:
from H.C. to purchase contract certificates from McGinn, Smith & Co. Inc,
Firstline Sr. Trust 07 Series B Clifion Park, NY
5 05/15/2008 | A $50,000 check from R. & S. B. to purchase Delivered to:
contract certificates from Firstline Trust 07 Series B McGinn, Smith & Co. Inc.
Clifton Park, NY
6 06/06/2008 | A subscription agreement for Firstline Trust 07 Delivered from:
Series B R.&J. P
Schenectady, NY
7 06/09/2008 | A $100,000 check from B.S. to purchase contract Delivered to:
certificates from Integrated Excellence Sr. Trust 08 McGinn, Smith & Co. Inc.
Clifton Park, NY
8 09/10/2009 | A letter and memorandum from McGinn Smith Delivered from:
Capital Holdings Corp. regarding Firstline Trust 07 McGinn, Smith & Co. inc.
Series B to A.G. Clifton Park, NY

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1341.

21




Case 1:10-cv-00457-GLS-DRH  Document 439-3 Filed 02/10/12 Page 51 of 60
Case 1:12-cr-00028-DNH Document 1 Filed 01/26/12 Page 22 of 28

COQUNTS NINE THROUGH EIGHTEEN
(Wire Fraud)

72.  Paragraphs One through Fifty-Six and Fifty-Nine through Sixty-Eight are hereby
realleged and incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein.

73.  From in or about September 2006 through in or about December 2009, in the
Northern District of New York and elsewhere, defendants TIMOTHY M. MCGINN and DAVID L.
SMITH devised and intended to devise a scheme and artifice to defraud investors by soliciting
investments under false pretenses and concealing, disguising, and failing to disclose material
information, and to obtain money and property by means of material false and fraudulent pretenses,
representations, promises, and material omissions and attempting to do so.

74.  For the purpose of exccuting such scheme and artifice, defendants TIMOTHY M.
MCGINN and DAVID L. SMITH, in the Northern District of New York and elsewhere, on or about
the dates listed below, knowingly transmitted and caused to be transmitted by means of wire
communication in interstate commerce the following writings, signs, and signals, specifically,

facsimile transmissions and money transfers, as described below:

Count | Date Writing, Siga, or Signal Origin Destination

9 04/23/2008 { Facsimile related 10 B.K.'s McGinn, Smith & Co. Inc. | National Financial
purchase of contract Clifton Park, NY Services LLC
certificates from Firstline Marlborough, MA
Trust 07 Series B

10 05/10/2008 | Facsimile related to A.C.’s McGinn, Smith & Co. Inc. | National Financial
purchase of contract Clifion Park, NY Services LLC
certificates from Firstline Mariborough, MA
Trust 07 Series B

H 05/28/2008 | Facsimile related to T.R.'s McGinn, Smith & Co. Inc. | National Financial
parchase of contract Clifton Park, NY Services LLC
certificates from Firstline Marltborough, MA
Trust 07 Series B
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Count | Date Writing, Sign, or Signal Origin Destination
12 0771472008 | Facsimile related to McGinn, Smith & Co. Inc. | National Financial
S.J.T.W.’s purchase of Clifton Park, NY Services LL.C
contract certificates from Marlborough, MA
Integrated Excellence Sr.
Trust 08
13 08/29/2008 | Wire transfer of $97,000 to Integrated Excellence Jr. Firstline Sr. Trust 07
Firstline Sr. Trust 07 Trust 08 M & T bank account
Mercantile Bank account ending in 5028
ending in 3994 Albany, New York
Boca Raton, Florida
14 08/29/2008 | Wire transfer of $45,000 to Integrated Excellence Jr. TDM Luxury Cruise
TDM Luxury Cruise Trust 07 | Trust 08 Trust 07
Mercantile Bank account M & T bank account
ending in 3994 ending in 5234
Boca Raton, Florida Albany, New York
15 07/01/2008 | Wire transfer of $35,000 to Integrated Excellence Sr. David L. Smith
David L. Smith Trust 08 M & T bank account
Mercantile Bank account ending in 9965
ending in 3983 Albany, New York
Boca Raton, Florida
16 07/01/2008 | Wire transfers totaling Integrated Excellence Sr. Timothy M. McGinn
07/15:2008 | $50,000 to Tumothy M. Trust 08 M & T bank account
McGinn Mercantile Bank account ending in 9504
ending in 3983 Albany, New York
Boca Raton, Florida
17 08/22/2008 | Wire transfers totaling McGinn, Smith Timothy M. McGinn
09/08/2008 | $230,000 to Timothy M. Transaction Funding Corp. | M & T bank accounts
10/22/2008 | McGinn Mercantile Bank ending in 9504 & 2675
10/27/2008 account ending in 3083 Albany, New York
11/07/2008 Boca Raton, Florida
07/08/2009
18 04/30/2009 | Wire transfer of $30,000 to TDMM Cable Jr. Trust 09 | Timothy M. McGinn
Timothy M. McGinn Mercantile Bank account M & T bank account
ending in 4139 ending in 2675
Boca Raton, FL Albany, New York

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343,
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COUNTS NINETEEN THROUGH TWENTY-FOUR
(Securities Fraud)

75.  Paragraphs One through Fifty-Six and Fifty-Nine through Sixty-Eight are hereby
realleged and incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein.

76.  On or about the following dates, each such date constituting a separate count of this
Indic_tment, within the Northern District of New York and elsewhere, the defendants TIMOTHY M.
MCGINN and DAVID L. SMITH, and others, willfully and knowingly, directly and indirectly, by
the use of means and instrumentalities of interstate commerce and the mails, in connection with the
purchase and sale of any securities, did use and employ manipulative and deceptive devices and
contrivances, in violation of Title 17, Code of Federal Regulations, Section 240.10b-5, by: (a)
employing devices, schemes, and artifices to defraud; (b) making untrue statements of material fact
and omitting {o state material facts necessary in order {o make the statements made, in the light of
the circumstances in which they were made, not misleading; and (c) engaging in transactions, acts,
practices, and courses of business which operated or would operate as a fraud and deceit upon

persons in connection with the following transactions:

Count Date Transaction
19 01/11/2008 Wire transfers related to TDM Verifier Trust 08 totaling $50,000 from the
01/28/2008 McGinn, Smith Funding LLC Mercantile bank account ending in 1635 to the

Timothy M. McGinn M & T bank account ending in 9504

20 01/28,2008 Wire fransfer related to TDM Verifier Trust 08 of $50,000 from the M¢Ginn,
Smith Funding LLC Mercantile bank account ending in 1635 to the David L.
Smith M & T bank account ending in 9965

21 09/29/2008 Wire transfers related to Fortress Trust 08 totaling $210,000 from the NEI
10/03/2008 Capital LLC Mercantile bank account ending in 9220 to the Timothy M.
10/06/2008 McGinn M & T bank account ending in 9504

22 0972972008 Wire transfer related to Fortress Trust 08 totaling $360,000 from the NEI
10/03/2008 Capital LLC Mercantile bank account ending in 9220 to the David L. Smith
10/06/2008 M & T bank account ending in 9965
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Count Date Transaction
23 10/63/2008 A wire transfer related to Fortress Trust 08 of $245,000 from the NEI Capital

LLC Mercantile bank account ending in 9220 to the Matthew Rogers Citicorp
Florida bank account ending in 9958 related to Fortress Trust 08

24 11/07/2008 Electronic mail message from tmmcginn@meginnsmith.com to Mercantile Bank
employees in Boca Raton, Florida related to Fortress Trust 08

All in violation of Title 15, United States Code, Sections 78j(b) and 78ff; Title 17, Code
of Federal Regulations, Section 240.10b-5; and Title 18, United States Code, Section 2.

COUNTS TWENTY-FIVE THROUGH TWENTY-SEVEN
(Filing False Returns)

77.  Paragraphs One through Fifty-Six and Fifty-Nine through Sixty-Eight are hereby
realleged and incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein.

78.  Onor about the following dates, each such date constituting a separate count of this
Indictment, in the Northern District of New York, defendant TIMOTHY M. MCGINN willfully
made and subscribed to the following joint U.S. Individual Income Tax Returns for the following
tax years, each of which (a) was prepared in the Northern District of New York; (b) was filed with
the Internal Revenue Service; (c) was verified by a written declaration that it was made under the
penalties of perjury; and (d) defendant TIMOTHY M. MCGINN did not believe to be true and
correct as to every material matter, to wit: the returns, at line 22, reported the following amounts as
income when, as defendant TIMOTHY M. MCGINN then well knew, the total income he had

received during each year was substantially in excess of that amount:
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Count Date Refurn Filed Tax Year Amount Reported
v at Line 22

28 10/18/2007 2006 $598,577

26 10/20/2008 2007 $537,850

27 10/152009 2008 $383,219

Allin ‘violation of Title 26, United States Code, Section 7206(1).

Cou TWE -EIGHT THR H THIRTY
(Filing False Returns)

79.  Paragraphs One through Fiﬁy—Six and Fifty-Nine through Sixty-Eight are hereby
realleged and incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein.

80.  On or about the following dates, each such date constituting a separate count of this
Indictment, in the Northern District of New York, defendant DAVID L. SMITH willfully made and
subscribed to the following joint U.S. Individual Income Tax Returns for the following tax years,
each of which (a) was prepared in the Northern District of New York; (b) was filed with the Internal
Revenue Service; (c).was verified by a written declaration that it was made under the penalties of
perjury; and (d) defendant DAVID L. SMITH did not believe to be true and correct as to every
material matter, to wit: the returns, at line 22, reported the following amounts as income when, as
defendant DAVID L. SMITH then well knew, the total income he had received during each year was

substantially in excess of that amount:
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Count Date Return Filed Tax Year Amount Reported
at Line 22

28 10/17/2007 2006 $487,337

29 10/20/2008 2007 $475,160

30 10/15/2009 2008 $501,199

All in violation of Title 26, United States Code, Section 7206(1).

rfeitu tio)

81.  Theallegations contained in Counts One through Twenty-Four of this Indictment are
realleged and incorporated by reference for the purpose of alleging forfeitures pursuant to Title 18,
United States Code, Section 981(a)(1)(C) and Title 28, United States Code, Section 2461(c).

82. Upon conviction of the offenses in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections
1341, 1343, and 1349 set forth in Counts One through Eighteen of this Indictment, defendants
TIMOTHY M. MCGINN and DAVID L. SMITH shall forfeit to the United States of America,
pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 981(a)(1)(C) and Title 28, United States Code,
Section 2461(c), any property, real or personal, which constitutes or is derived from proceeds
traceable to the offenses.

83.  Uponconviction of the offenses in violation of Title 15, United States Code, Sections
78j(b)and 78ff and Title 17, Code of Federal Regulations, Section 240.10b-5 set forth in Counts
Nineteen through Twenty-Four of this Indictment, which are realleged and incorporated by reference
as if fully set forth herein, defendants TIMOTHY M. MCGINN and DAVID L. SMITH shall forfeit
to the United States, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §§ 981(@)(1XC), 1956(c)(7), and 1961(1),and 28 U.S.C.
§ 2461(c), any property, real or personal, which constitutes or is derived from proceeds traceable to

the offenses.
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84.  If any of the property described above, as a result of any act or omission of the

defendants:
(@
(b)
(©
(d)
(o)

cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence;

ha$ been transferred or sold to, or deposited with, a third party,
has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the court;

has been substantially diminished in value; or

has been commingled with other property which cannot be divided without
difficulty;

the United States of America shall be entitled to forfeiture of property pursuant to Title 21, United

States Code, Section 853(p), as incorporated by Title 28, United States Code, Section 2461(c).

85.  The intent of the United States of America to forfeit such property includes a money

judgment in the amount of $8,000,000 representing the total dollar amount constituting or derived

from proceeds traceable to the offenses of conviction.

All pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 981(a}(1)(C) and 28 U.S.C. § 2461(c).

RICHARD S. HARTUNIAN
United States Attorney

N RO/ —

Elizabeth C. Coombe
Richard Belliss
Assistant U.S. Attorneys
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EXHIBIT “C”
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SCHEDULE A

1. Timeshare Unit in Beaver Creek, Colorado: Unit 317, week 3, St. James Place, Avon
Colorado.
a. Purchased in 1991.
b. Estimated value: $35,000
c. Likely proceeds: $25,000

ra

Antique Chinese War Lord Desk: Located in Clifton Park storage unit.
a. Purchased in 1995
b. Estimated value: $15,000
c. Likely proceeds: $5,000

(9%

Oriental Rugs (9): Various locations, including Clifton Park storage.
a. Purchased 1997 through 2007
b. Estimated value: $64,000
c. Likely proceeds: $25,000

4. Pine Tree Golf Club Membership Bond:
a. Purchased in 2000
b. Estimated value: $10,000
c. Likely proceeds: $7,000

wn

Waterville Golf Links Membership Initiation Fee: Located in Ireland.
a. Purchased in 2003,
b. Estimated value: $25,000
¢. Likely proceeds: $20,000

6. Watches and Jewelry: Breitling, serial No. A49350; Montblanc, model: Meisterstuk
a. Purchased 2002 through 2006 :
b. Estimated value: $10,000
c. Likely proceeds: $3,500

7. Boca Raton Residence, 126 Via Palma Lane, Boca Raton, FL 334787
a. Purchased in 2007

Estimated value: $495,000

less Commissions ($29,700)

less Debt and Taxes ($425,000)

Net Equity: $40,300

o a0 o
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f. Likely proceeds: $20,000

8. Furniture and personal property at Boca Raton Residence
a. Purchased in 2007
b. Estimated value: $10,000
c. Likely proceeds: $6,000

9. M & T Bank Account: Acct. No. 9849142675
a. Value: $9,480

10. McGinn Smith Retirement Account: Acct. No. 6726005003
a. Value: $7,350

TOTAL:
Estimated Value: $231,130

Likely Proceeds: $128,330



